
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DELEGATED DECISIONS

COUNCILLOR MT BOWEN
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR COMMUNITIES

Tuesday, 30 March 2021 

2020/24 WILDFIRE PSPOS

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet Delegated Decisions

26 March 2021

TITLE: Wildfires PSPO

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER: David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Draft Order, Appendix B: Response from 
Peak District National Park Authority, Appendix C: Response from 
Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service, Appendix D: Response from 
Staffordshire Police and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Appendix E: Response from the National Trust

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To provide a summary of the responses received in relation to the proposals to 
introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order (wildfires) 2021 and to obtain approval to 
introduce the Order.
 
2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Cabinet Member notes the responses to the consultation.

2.2 That the Cabinet Member approves the draft Order.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 On 1 December 2020, the Cabinet considered the introduction of a Public 
Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to help prevent fires in grass and moorland 
areas. The draft PSPO had been considered at the Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel on 23 November 2020. 

3.2 After considering the draft Order, the accompanying report and comments 
from the Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel, the Cabinet agreed:

 That the conduct of the necessary consultation, publication and 
notification in relation to the draft Order appended to the report be 
agreed; and

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 That the approval of the draft Order be made by way of a Delegated 
Cabinet Decision unless the responses from the consultation necessitate 
material changes to the draft Order.

3.3 The Council has now carried out a consultation on the proposed PSPO and 
the responses are outlined in this report.

3.3 It is suggested that none of the responses necessitate material changes to the 
draft Order and that the new Order can now be introduced by way of a 
Delegated Cabinet Decision.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The proposed Order would support Aim 1: Supporting our communities to 
create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 The Council could chose not to introduce a PSPO in the terms suggested.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The introduction of the Order would assist in preventing nuisance 
and environmental crime.

6.2 Workforce

Officers will be deployed to beauty spot areas at key times as part 
of a multi-agency approach.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

None identified.

6.4 Financial Considerations

None, the cost of signage and enforcement of the Orders would be 
delivered within current budgets.

6.5 Legal

The draft Order has been reviewed by Legal Services. 

6.6 Sustainability

None.

Page 4



6.7 Climate Change

The proposed PSPO could assist in preventing carbon loss as a 
result of wildfires in moorland areas and thus assist in reducing 
climate change.
 

6.8 Consultation

The draft Order was initially considered by the Communities 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020 with the 
Cabinet agreeing that the Council should consult on the proposals 
at their meeting on 1 December 2020.

The responses to the subsequent statutory consultation are 
provided within this report.

6.9 Risk Assessment

None

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

David Smith
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships
david.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

6.4

Page 5



7. Detail

7.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 gives local authorities 
the power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to control 
behaviours in a public place, which have caused or may cause a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality and are likely to be of a 
continuing or persistent nature and are therefore unreasonable.

7.2 The introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Oder (PSPO) to help prevent 
wildfires was considered by the Council in 2018 in response to a planned (but 
subsequently cancelled) sky lantern festival on the edges of Buxton. This was 
due to concerns about the risk of lanterns drifting into Staffordshire Moorlands 
and potentially causing fires at a time of heightened fire risk. 

7.3 The possibility of introducing a PSPO was raised again by the Peak District 
National Park Authority and District Councillors in 2020 following large 
numbers of people visiting the Peak District after the restrictions introduced to 
prevent the spread of coronavirus were lifted in the summer of 2020. 

7.4 The Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel considered a draft PSPO to help 
prevent fires in grass and moorland areas on 23 November 2020. On 
1 December 2020, the Cabinet agreed that the Council should carry out the 
necessary consultation, publicity and notification that is required by statute 
before introducing a PSPO (as set out in the Table below).

Requirements under 
Section 72 Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014

What we must do What we did

“Necessary Consultation” Consult with:
a) the chief officer of 

police, and the local 
policing body, for the 
police area that 
includes the restricted 
area

b) whatever community 
representatives the 
local authority thinks 
it appropriate to 
consult; and

c) the owner or occupier 
of land within the 
restricted area (where 
reasonably 
practicable).

Letters were sent to the Chief 
Constable of Staffordshire 
Police; the Police, Fire and 
Crime Commissioner for 
Staffordshire; the Chief Fire 
Officer of Staffordshire Fire 
and Rescue Service and the 
Chief Executive of the Peak 
District National Park 
Authority on 22 January 
2021. Consultees were 
asked to provide any 
comments that they have by 
19 February 2021.

“Necessary Publicity” Publish the text of the 
proposed order.

The text of the proposed 
order was published on the 
Council’s website and a 
press release was issued on 
22 January 2021.

Page 6



“Necessary Notification” Notifying any parish councils 
and the County Council of 
the proposed order.

A copy of the proposed 
Order was sent to all town 
and parish councils on 
27 January 2021.

A copy was also sent to 
Staffordshire County Council 
(SCC) on 22 January 2021.

Responses Received following the “Necessary Consultation”

Peak District National Park Authority 

7.5 The PDNPA welcomed working in partnership to reduce the risk of wildfires; 
however, they questioned whether the introduction of a PSPO is needed. 
PDNPA pointed to their existing byelaws to prevent fires introduced under the 
Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000. They also raised the 
difficulties of enforcing an Order and highlighted their lack of resource to 
enforce the current byelaws. A copy of the response from PDNPA is provided 
at Appendix B.

7.6 The Peak District National Park byelaws were introduced in 1996 and cover a 
range of issues such as discharging crossbows, killing wildlife, interfering with 
water courses and removal of peat or stones. On firesetting, the byelaw states 
that:

“No person shall on the access land1 intentionally, carelessly or negligently 
light a fire, or place, throw or let fall a lighted match or any other thing so as to 
be likely to cause a fire”.

7.7 Any person offending against any of the byelaws is liable to a fine not 
exceeding Level 2 on the Standard Scale on summary conviction. It is our 
understanding that the byelaws have been very rarely enforced.

7.8 It is recognised that enforcing the requirements of the Order presents 
difficulties given the size of the rural area, the remoteness of some parts of it, 
high visitor numbers, and the relatively low number of officers with 
enforcement powers. However, It is hoped that the presence of the restriction, 
suitable signage and education, and targeted patrols with other key agencies 
at specific times of the year will together assist in reducing moorland fires.

7.9 The introduction of a PSPO would allow breaches to be dealt with by way of a 
fixed penalty notice as an alternative to prosecution. Enforcement of byelaws 
can only take place by way of court summons. 

1 The CROW Act normally gives a public right of access to land mapped as ‘open country’ (mountain, 
moor, heath and down) or registered common land. These areas are known as ‘open access land’.

Page 7



7.10 Furthermore, the Peak District National Park byelaw only covers access land, 

whilst the proposed PSPO applies to all parts of the district of Staffordshire 

Moorlands that:

 lie within the boundary of the Peak District National Park and/or is land 

owned by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, and

 are open to the air, and 

 to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or 

without payment).

7.11 The PSPO would, therefore, protect a greater area and it is suggested that 
members of the public should find it easier to identify when they are within the 
boundary of the Peak District National Park (which is marked at the road 
entrances) than when they are on access land (which is arguably less 
understood). This clarity should assist people to comply with the rules.

7.12 PDNPA suggested that it may be appropriate to include an exemption for 
landowners/occupiers or people authorised by them carrying out controlled 
burning on their land, provided the proposed activity is carried out with any 
other necessary consents and in accordance with the 2007 Regulations and 
the Heather and Grass Burning Code or any replacements.

7.13 It is recommended that the draft Order be amended to include an exemption 
for ‘managed burning’ as suggested by the PDNPA. This would amount to a 
minor change to the draft Order and would not require further consultation on 
the change.

Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS)

7.14 SFRS stated that they were supportive of the proposed PSPO. A copy of their 
response is provided at Appendix C.

Staffordshire Police and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

7.15 A response was received from the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for 
Staffordshire stating that he was broadly in support of the proposed Order. 
However, he suggested that SMDC’s proposed Order goes further than 
comparable orders by seeking to prohibit possessing barbecues, fireworks or 
lanterns in the Restricted Area. He expressed a concern that “the simple act of 
possessing an item goes beyond what could be enforceable and possibly 
infringes on civil liberties disproportionally, so would be difficult to police in 
practice. This could criminalise those who might have no intention to light an 
item within the Restricted Area, or even those simply traversing in a vehicle 
through the Restricted Area”.

7.16 A copy of the full response is provided at Appendix D.

Page 8



Responses Received following the “Necessary Publicity” and “Necessary 
Notification”

Staffordshire County Council

7.16 SCC did not submit any comments.

National Trust (NT)

7.19 The NT offered broad support for the proposed introduction of the PSPO 
stating that the PSPO could act to raise awareness but also that it needs to be 
regarded as part of a broader strategic approach.

7.20 The NT requested that an exemption be included for otherwise lawful land 
management activities by owners and occupiers of land. They also raised the 
same point as the PDNPA and asked for clarity as to why the PSPO is 
required above and beyond current measures under the CRoW Act. A copy of 
the NT’s response is provided at Appendix E.

Residents

7.23 One resident commented on the problems caused by pop-up campsites and 
the nuisance that can be caused by campfires. They also asked whether 
motorcarvan owners would be prevented from using gas stoves within their 
vehicles (the restriction would not apply since motorcaravans are not open to 
the air and the public are not entitled to enter). They also asked whether the 
PSPO would prevent smoking cigarettes in high risk areas or would restrict 
people from lighting candles in acts of remembrance at cemeteries or other 
such public places. Such activities would only be caught by the PSPO if they 
posed a risk of fire, which would not normally be the case if the cigarettes and 
candles used safely and disposed of appropriately. 

7.24 Another resident also raised the issue of campsites and argued that campfires 
and fire pits should be banned in all locations and that more should be done to 
ensure compliance with all regulations on licensed campsites. The PSPO is 
aimed at preventing wildfires and would prevent fires and fire pits in most 
locations. It is not suggested that the prohibitions be extended to licensed 
campsite, or to land occupied by exempted organisations such as the Guides 
or Scouts, because the use of such sites is supervised and the restriction 
would be unreasonable and generally not necessary to prevent wildfires.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (Wildfires) 2021

Section 59 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council hereby makes the following Order:

1. This Order comes into force on XXXX and will last for a period of three years.

2. This Order applies to the land specified in the Schedule (the “Restricted Area”).

Purpose

3. The Order is intended is to help to stop or reduce activities that have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality namely the starting of 

fires in grass and moorland areas. Such fires can contribute to climate change and 

result in risk to life; damage to biodiversity, habitats and property; and loss of income 

from tourism and other land uses.

Offence

4. Under the terms and restrictions of the Public Spaces Protection Order the 

following is prohibited:

a) Lighting a fire of any type or size in the Restricted Area without the prior written 

consent of the District Council.

b) Using any article or object which causes a naked flame and thereby poses a 

risk of fire without the prior written consent of the District Council.

c) Possessing or lighting a barbecue in the Restricted Area without the prior 

written consent of the District Council.

Page 11



2

d) Possessing, lighting or releasing a firework in the Restricted Area without the 

prior written consent of the District Council.

e) Possessing, lighting or releasing a Chinese/sky lantern or other open flame 

heat-source lantern in the Restricted Area without the prior written consent of 

the District Council.

5. A person or persons are required to surrender anything in their possession which 

a constable or authorised person has reasonable suspicion to be an article that has 

been used OR is likely to be used in conjunction with the prohibited activities referred 

to in this Order.

6. The restrictions in Article 4 to this Order shall not apply to:

(a) any police, ambulance, fire service or Peak District National Park Authority 

personnel acting in pursuance of statutory powers or duties; OR

(b) landowners, occupiers or people authorised by them carrying out controlled 

burning on their land, which is permitted by The Heather and Grass etc. 

Burning (England) Regulations 2007, provided that it carried out with any other 

necessary consents, and in accordance with the Heather and Grass Burning 

Code or any replacements.

Offence of Failing to Comply with Order

7. Under Section 67 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, it is 

an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:

(a) do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by this Order, or

(b) fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under this 

Order.

8. A person who is guilty of an offence shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine 

not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

Page 12



3

Challenging the Validity of the Order

9. If any interested person desires to question the validity of this Order on the 

grounds that the Council has no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act 

has not been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may apply to the High 

Court within six weeks from the date on which this order is made.

IN WITNESS whereof the COMMON SEAL 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 
          day of          two thousand and twenty one in
the presence of 

Executive Director

SCHEDULE

This Order applies to all parts of the district of Staffordshire Moorlands that:

 lie within the boundary of the Peak District National Park (shown in green on 

the attached map) and/or is land owned by Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council, and

 are open to the air, and 

 to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without 

payment).

This includes access land as defined in Section 1 of the Countryside and Rights of 

Way Act 2000 but excludes any licensed campsites or caravan sites, or land which is 

occupied by an organisation which holds a valid certificate of exemption granted 

under paragraph 12 of Schedule 1 of the Caravan Sites and Control of Development 

Act 1960 or under section 269(6) of the Public Health Act 1936.

Page 13



4Page 14



 

Member of National Parks UK Holder of Council of Europe Diploma  
 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Chief Executive:  Sarah Fowler   
Chair: Andrew McCloy   Deputy Chair: James Berresford 

Working together for the Peak District National Park: 
▪ To speak up for and care for the Peak District National Park for all to enjoy forever ▪ 

 
Information we hold may be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act and the Environmental Information Regulations. Our 
Privacy Notice tells you about how we use, manage and store your personal information in line with the General Data Protection 

Regulation and DPA 2018. The Notice is published on our website or you can obtain a copy on request 

 
 

Peak District National Park Authority 
Tel: 01629 816200 

E-mail: customer.service@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Web: www.peakdistrict.gov.uk 

Aldern House . Baslow Road . Bakewell . Derbyshire . DE45 1AE 

 

 
 

 

David Smith 
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships 

 

High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
Sent by Email 
 
 
 

Your ref:  

Our ref: SF/SW 

Date: 16 February 2021 
 

 
Dear Dr Smith  

 
We recognise the risk of wildfire to the fragile environment of the Peak District National Park and 
welcome a joint approach of partners to work together to reduce the risk and impact they can 
have. 
 
We are interested to understand more details and any resource the Council might be willing to 
allocate to support the statement ‘HPBC/DDDC intends to work with partners to raise awareness 
of the risks of wildfires and to encourage people to behave responsibly’. We would welcome a 
partnership approach to this issue. 
 
One action alone will not solve the problem or help the necessary behaviour change we wish to 
encourage, so we welcome the intention to work with partners to also raise awareness of these 
risks with the public. We recognise that legislation is an important tool in this work, but is only of 
use if it is enforced. What plans do the council or Police have to enforce this proposed order? 
 
We are uncertain that PSPO’s are a necessary piece of legislation or the right legislation. 
PSPO’s are more commonly used for more defined areas of land and to address specific area 
based issues, not such a wide spread blanket approach. We understand that PSPO’s have been 
successful when enforced  in specific locations such as where arson and careless camp fires 
have been a significant cause of repeated wildfires for example in Dovestone and  in Kirklees.  
 
Legislation does already exist, for instance the public cannot have open fires without landowners 
permission and open fires are not allowed on open access land under the CROW act. The PDNP 
worked with partners last year to raise awareness with the public about this, making it clear that 
we (and other major landowners) do not allow the public to have fires on our land.  We do not 
have the resource to enforce bye laws and are only aware of very limited enforcement of existing 
legislation. Understanding the reasons for this might help inform the usefulness of any new 
PSPO’s.  
 
The proposed Order applies to all persons except those specified in Article 6 of the Order 
(namely police, ambulance, fire service or Peak District National Park Authority personnel acting 
in pursuance of statutory powers or duties). The Order would therefore apply to any landowners, 
occupiers or persons authorised by them wanting to carry out controlled burning on their land 

Page 15



 

 

and requiring Natural England consent under the Heather and Grass etc. Burning (England) 
Regulations 2007 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2003/contents/made). This may 
impose an unnecessary additional burden on them and on HPBC. Section 50(6)(a) of the 2014 
Act enables a prohibition or requirement to be framed so as to apply to ‘all persons, or only to 
persons in specified categories, or to all persons except those in specified categories’. We 
therefore suggest that it may be appropriate to include an exemption for landowners/occupiers or 
people authorised by them carrying out controlled burning on their land, provided the proposed 
activity is carried out with any other necessary consents and in accordance with the 2007 
Regulations and the Heather and Grass Burning Code or any replacements. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Sarah Fowler 
Chief Executive 
 
Tel. 01629 816323 
Email: sarah.fowler@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Twitter: @peakchief 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2003/contents/made
mailto:sarah.fowler@peakdistrict.gov.uk


Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



I write on behalf of Matthew Ellis, Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Staffordshire in response 
to your consultation process regarding the proposal of the Public Spaces Protection Order (Wildfires) 
2021 under Section 59 and 75 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014.

The issue has presented a major challenge to the Fire and Rescue Service in recent years, particularly 
in 2018 when a significant number of wildfires caused considerable environmental damage to the 
Moorlands area. The need to work with local authorities and other agencies to do more to protect 
open spaces is reflected in our Fire and Rescue Plan. As the Fire and Rescue Authority, the PFCC also 
has a responsibility to firefighters who are placed at risk when dealing with such incidents, many of 
which are caused by the irresponsible behaviour of others.

We are broadly in support of the proposed measure and recognise that similar orders are already in 
place at Calderdale, Oldham (Saddleworth Moor), Bradford, and other areas that are at risk of 
wildfires caused by the use of barbecues, open fires, and Chinese Lanterns. We accept that this is 
not simply a seasonal concern but one that requires constant attention. The proposed order would 
supplement existing powers and provide clarity and leverage in dealing with those in breach of the 
order, however for it to work effectively in practice the relevant agencies need to take a 
cooperative, coordinated and consistent approach to enforcement.

We note that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s proposal goes further than comparable 
orders by widening the offence by reference to, “possessing of” at 4c, “Possessing” at 4d, and 
“Possessing” at 4e. It is a concern that the simple act of possessing an item goes beyond what could 
be enforceable and possibly infringes on civil liberties disproportionally, so would be difficult to 
police in practice. This could criminalise those who might have no intention to light an item within 
the Restricted Area, or even those simply traversing in a vehicle through the Restricted Area.

We do agree with (5) which provides the necessary and appropriate safeguards to these concerns.

5. A person or persons are required to surrender anything in their possession which a constable or 
authorised person has reasonable suspicion to be an article that has been used OR is likely to be 
used in conjunction with the prohibited activities referred to in this Order 

We would also seek further consideration of the defined Restricted Area. As it stands, the order 
states: 

“This Order applies to all parts of the district of Staffordshire Moorlands that: 

• lie within the boundary of the Peak District National Park and/or is land owned by Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council”

This implies that the order would apply to the full boundaries of the District Council area and not 
simply the Peak District area of concern.

Aside from these concerns, we are broadly satisfied with the proposed order.

Kind regards

Ralph Butler

Head of Strategy & Change 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
National Trust 

Peak District 

Dark Peak Area Office 

Edale End 

Hope 

Derbyshire  S33 6RF 

Tel: +44 (0)1433 670902 

Fax: +44 (0)1433 670397 

www.nationaltrust.org.uk/peakdistrict  

President: HRH The Prince of Wales 

Regional Chair: Carys Swanwick 

Regional Director: Andy Beer 

 

Registered office:  

Heelis, Kemble Drive, Swindon, Wiltshire SN2 2NA 

Registered charity number 205846 

 

 jon.stewart@nationaltrust.org.uk 

Direct line: +44 (0) 07823 536097 

 

 

18 February 2021 

 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council/ Staffordshire Moorlands Borough Council 

Per David Smith 

Principal Officer Communities and Partnerships 

 

 

(via email- david.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Mr Smith 

 

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) (Wildfires) consultations 2021 – High Peak 

Borough Council/ Staffordshire Moorlands Borough Council 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to your consultations on the Public Spaces 

Protection Order (Wildfires) 2021. We have a few comments that we would like you to 

consider – and are submitting the same in respect of both High Peak Borough Council and 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council proposed PSPOs. 

 

As a significant landowner and manager of land within the Peak District National Park, which 

has experienced, and is at risk of, wildfire, we broadly support these proposals. 

 

It should be noted that, under Countryside and Rights of Way legislation, fires are already 

not allowed on open moorlands, so it would be helpful to be clear why these PSPOs are 

required above and beyond what already exists. 

 

Enforcement is likely to be a key issue. It would be helpful to understand what plans and 

resources are in place from the local authorities to deliver this.  If a PSPO is approved we 

would recommend you implement initial focussed enforcement to ‘get the message out’. 

 

Page 21

http://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/peakdistrict
mailto:david.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


 

 

 

Cont/d 

 

2 

 

The PSPOs may themselves act to raise awareness and this would be welcomed. They also 

needs to be regarded as part of a broader strategic approach aligning with the Countryside 

Code, #Peak District Proud etc.  The work last year by partners in the Peak District to co-

ordinate action in response to the various and changing Covid Government requirements 

and guidance was positive and we need to build on that going forward. 

 

Regarding the specific conditions in the PSPOs, we request that an exemption is included 

for otherwise lawful land management activities by owners and occupiers of land. It would 

be undesirable for these to be inadvertently outlawed. In particular, 4 a) and b) are not 

practical for land managers and should not be treated as absolute.  There is a precedent for 

this in the way Traffic Regulation Orders are often framed with exemptions for land 

management activities. 

 

We hope you find this helpful. Thank you for your consideration. 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Jon Stewart 

General Manager, Peak District 

 

 

Page 22


	Agenda
	1 Wildfire PSPOs
	Appendix A 1 for Wildfire PSPOs
	Appendix A 2 for Wildfire PSPOs
	Appendix A 3 for Wildfire PSPOs
	Appendix A 4 for Wildfire PSPOs
	Appendix A 5 for Wildfire PSPOs


